IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

Case No. S180289

v.

BOUHN MAIKHIO,

Respondent/Defendant.

W 29 2010

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D055068 San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. M031897 The Honorable David Oberholtzer, Judge

> JAN I. GOLDSMITH, City Attorney ANDREW JONES, Assistant City Attorney MONICA A. TIANA, Deputy City Attorney California State Bar No. 176713

> > Office of the San Diego City Attorney Criminal Division, Appellate Unit 1200 Third Avenue, Suite 700 San Diego, California 92101-4103 Telephone: (619) 533-5500

INTRODUCTION

TO THE HONORABLE CHIEF JUSTICE AND THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT:

The California Department of Fish and Game [DFG] is charged with the management and protection of California's fish and wildlife and their habitats, for the benefit of all of California's citizens, through enforcement of the relevant fish and game laws and regulations. One of the most important tools employed by DFG wardens has been their authority under Fish and Game Code¹ sections 1006 and 2012, to stop vehicles and temporarily detain their occupants, for the purpose of administrative inspections, based on the reasonable belief that the occupants have engaged in recent hunting or fishing. The DFG has judiciously employed this tool in order to fulfill its important obligation to preserve and protect California's natural resources.

¹ All future references are to the California Fish and Game Code unless stated otherwise.

This case now presents the important question of whether fish and game wardens are authorized by the Constitution and state law, to conduct such vehicle stops for inspection.

In this case, while surveilling Respondent hand-line fishing on a pier, a warden saw Respondent catch something and place it in a black bag next to him, but he could not see what it was. Respondent left the pier area in his car and the warden conducted a vehicle stop of Respondent. During the stop, the warden saw a black bag in Respondent's car, searched it and found an illegally harvested lobster.

Respondent brought a motion to suppress the evidence and the trial court granted the motion, finding that the vehicle stop was unlawful because the warden had no reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. The court of appeal affirmed the trial court's granting of the motion, finding that neither state law nor the Constitution authorizes fish and game warden vehicle stops without a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity.

This Court should reverse the judgment of the court of appeal, however, because both the Constitution and Sections 1006 and 2012 authorize fish and game wardens to conduct vehicle stops for inspection, without a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, based on a warden's reasonable belief in recent hunting or fishing, when the stop occurs at or near the time and place of the activity.

Similar to stops and administrative inspections of fisherman or hunters encountered in the field, such vehicle stops for inspection, without a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, are constitutional under both the implied consent doctrine and pursuant to the Fourth Amendment balancing test under *Brown v. Texas*, 443 U.S. 47 (1979). Accordingly, the judgment of the court of appeal should be reversed.

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Do Fish and Game Code sections 1006 and 2012 authorize wardens to make a vehicle stop when they have a reasonable belief that the occupants have recently engaged in fishing or hunting?
- 2. Are hunting and fishing inspections by fish and game wardens, without suspicion of illegal activity, constitutional based on the implied consent doctrine or pursuant to the Fourth Amendment balancing test from *Brown*, 443 U.S. at 47?
- 3. May a fish and game warden make a vehicle stop for an administrative inspection, without reasonable suspicion of illegal activity, based on the implied consent doctrine or pursuant to the Fourth Amendment balancing test from *Brown*, 443 U.S. at 47?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Overview of Fish and Game Administration

The DFG plays a vital role in the protection of California's fish, wildlife, and their habitats. *People v. Harbor Hut Restaurant*, 147 Cal. App. 3d 1151, 1154 (1983); Section 711.7(a). Although the People collectively own the state's wildlife, the DFG acts as trustee for California's citizens. Section 711.7(a); *People v. Perez*, 51 Cal. App. 4th 1168, 1175 (1996). The primary objective of the DFG is to exercise supervision over the "trust" in order "to prevent parties from using the trust in a harmful manner." *Harbor Hut Restaurant*, 147 Cal. App. 3d at 1154; *see also National Audubon Society v. Superior Court*, 33 Cal. 3d 419, 437 (1983). More specifically, the DFG's mission is to preserve, conserve, maintain, and protect California's diverse fish, wildlife and plant resources, and the habitats upon which they depend, for their ecological values and for their use and enjoyment by the public. Section 1801. Another of the DFG's

important objectives is to alleviate any public health or safety problems caused by wildlife. Section 1801.

To promote the DFG's mission, numerous fish and game laws and regulations have been implemented to prevent poaching and other harmful uses of fish and wildlife in California. For example, it is illegal to kill, capture, or possess game, fish or other wildlife except during open season and as provided by the Fish and Game Code and other regulations. Sections 2000, 2001, and 2002. Threatened and endangered species are the subject of even more stringent laws and regulations. Section 2080, *et. seq.*

The DFG employs wardens to enforce the fish and game laws and regulations. Sections 850–858. They are also peace officers whose authority extends throughout the state. Penal Code section 830.2(e). The Legislature has given broad inspection authority to wardens pursuant to Sections 1006 and 2012.

Specifically, Section 1006 authorizes wardens to conduct inspections of fish and game storage sites and containers. Pursuant to Section 1006, the warden may inspect the following:

(a) All boats, markets, stores and other buildings, except dwellings, and all receptacles, except the clothing actually worn by a person at the time of inspection, where birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibia may be stored, placed, or held for sale or storage.

(b) All boxes and packages containing birds, mammals, fish, reptiles or amphibian which are held for transportation by any common carrier.

Section 2012, authorizes wardens to demand the display of licenses, fish, wildlife, tags, and gear in a person's possession. Section 2012 provides:

All licenses, tags, and the birds, mammals, fish, reptiles or amphibians taken or otherwise dealt with under this code, and any device or apparatus designed to be, and capable of being, used to take birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibians shall be exhibited upon demand to

any person authorized by the department to enforce this code or any law relating to the protection and conservation of birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibians.

2. Proceedings Below

Respondent was charged with possession of a lobster out of season and with failing to display his catch in violation of California Code of Regulations [CCR], Title 14, section 29.90(a) and Section 2012. The charges arose out of a fish and game warden's vehicle stop of Respondent for an administrative inspection. (Engrossed Settled Statement [ESS] at 1, lines 23–25 and Transcript of 1538.5 Motion [T.] at 19–26.) Prior to trial, Respondent moved to suppress the evidence of these offenses pursuant to Penal Code section 1538.5. (ESS at 1, lines 23–25.) At a consolidated suppression motion,² the prosecution's evidence established the following:

Erik Fleet, a warden with ten years of experience with the Department of Fish and Game, was on duty on the evening of August 19, 2007, near the Ocean Beach Pier, a public fishing pier in San Diego. (T. at 3, 19.) Using a telescope with an 80 millimeter objective that mounts on the window of his truck, (T. at 7, 19), the warden had a close-up view of the fishing activities on the pier so that he could see the actual fish and lobsters caught, except when the pier occasionally obstructed his view. (T. at 7, 14, 19.)

At about 11:00 p.m., Warden Fleet saw Respondent Bouhn Maikhio fishing off the pier with a "hand-line." (T. at 19, 20.) The warden knew that

² The suppression motion was consolidated with motions in two other cases, *People v. Nguyen* (case No. M031902) and *People v. Herrera* (case No. M031898).

hand-lining was a common, but illegal,³ method of catching lobsters on the pier. (T. at 20.) He also knew that lobster season was closed. Hand-lining, however, was a legal method of catching fish on the pier. (T. at 23.) The warden saw Respondent pull something up on the hand-line and place it in a black bag next to him, but he could not see what it was. (T. at 20.) Respondent then left the pier with two companions, and drove out of the pier parking lot. (T. at 20.)

Warden Fleet stopped Respondent's car after it left the parking lot and asked Respondent if he had any fish or lobsters in the car. (T. at 21.) Respondent said, "no." (T. at 21.) Seeing a black bag on the rear floorboard of Respondent's car, Warden Fleet searched it and found an illegally harvested California spiny lobster. (T. at 22.) Respondent admitted that the lobster was his; he apologized, saying he was stupid for doing what he did. (T. at 22.)

Warden Fleet cited Respondent for possessing a lobster during closed lobster season and for failing to exhibit his catch, violations of California Code of Regulations Title 14, section 29.90(a), and Section 2012, respectively. (T. at 22; Citation.) Warden Fleet released Respondent on his signed promise to appear and returned the lobster to the ocean. (T. at 22.)

The trial judge granted Respondent's motion to suppress. (T. at 46, 47.) The judge ruled that without reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, the warden's vehicle stop of Respondent was unlawful.

On Appellant's appeal, the Appellate Division of the Superior Court reversed the trial court's order. (Order, January 27, 2009; Order after

³ California Code of Regulations [CCR], Title 14, Section 29.80(a)(2).

Rehearing, April 7, 2009.) The Appellate Division concluded that, pursuant to Sections 1006 and 2012, Warden Fleet had conducted a lawful vehicle stop of Respondent based on a reasonable belief that Respondent was involved in fishing and a reasonable suspicion that Respondent was involved in criminal activity.

The Court of Appeal accepted transfer of the case for hearing and decision and requested briefing by the parties on the following issues: "(1) whether Fish and Game Code sections 1006 and 2012 authorize vehicle stops without reasonable suspicion of criminal conduct, and (2) whether the warden in this case had reasonable suspicion to believe Respondent was engaged in illegal lobster fishing." (Order, May 20, 2009.) After hearing oral argument, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's ruling. The majority held that Sections 1006 and 2012 did not authorize Warden Fleet's stop of Respondent's vehicle. The majority also held that the vehicle stop was not reasonable under the Fourth Amendment because it was not supported by a reasonable suspicion that Respondent was engaged in illegal lobster fishing.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As shown by an Attorney General's Opinion construing the predecessor to Fish and Game Code Section 1006, and based on the presumptive intent of the Legislature, state law, pursuant to Sections 1006 and 2012, authorize wardens to conduct vehicle stops for administrative inspection when a warden has a reasonable belief that the occupants have recently engaged in fishing or hunting. (4 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 405, 407–09 (1944); *Orange County Employees Assn., Inc. v. County of Orange*, 14 Cal. App. 4th 575, 582–83 (1993).

Fish and game warden compliance checks⁴ of fisherman and hunters encountered in the field, moreover, are constitutional under the implied consent doctrine and under the balancing test from *Brown*, 443 U.S. at 47, without any suspicion of illegality, when a warden has a reasonable belief that an individual is engaging in, or has recently engaged in fishing or hunting, and the stop occurs at or near the time and place of the activity.

Compliance checks of fisherman and hunters encountered in the field are constitutional under the implied consent doctrine, because individuals, such as Respondent, who voluntarily engage in the highly regulated activities of fishing or hunting, impliedly agree that wardens may stop them for reasonable inspections at or near the time and place of these activities.

Additionally, pursuant to the balancing test from *Brown*, compliance checks of fisherman and hunters encountered in the field are also constitutional, without any suspicion of illegal activity, because the state's compelling interest in protecting fish and wildlife, as furthered by compliance checks, outweighs the intrusion on the individual.

Similar to the state's need to conduct compliance checks of fisherman and hunters encountered in the field with no suspicion of illegal activity, wardens are also authorized to conduct reasonable vehicle stops of these individuals, without a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, under the implied consent doctrine and the balancing test from *Brown*, 443 U.S. at 47, based on a reasonable belief of recent fishing or hunting, when those stops occur at or near the time and place of the activity.

Furthermore, based on the unique nature of fish and game regulations and enforcement, and due to the difficult task facing wardens in

⁴ Appellant uses the terms "compliance checks" and "administrative inspections" interchangeably throughout this brief.

their attempts to enforce these regulations, application of a suspicion of illegal activity requirement to compliance checks of fisherman and hunters encountered on foot or in their vehicles, would seriously imperil the state's vital interest in protecting fish and wildlife from depredation.

Warden's vehicle stops, such as the one in this case, are authorized under Sections 1006 and 2012 and the Constitution, and therefore, the judgment of the court of appeal should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I

FISH AND GAME CODE SECTIONS 1006 AND 2012 AUTHORIZE WARDENS TO CONDUCT VEHICLE STOPS BASED ON A WARDEN'S REASONABLE BELIEF THAT THE OCCUPANTS HAVE RECENTLY ENGAGED IN FISHING OR HUNTING

Sections 1006 and 2012, provide wardens with the authority to conduct vehicle stops for administrative inspections, based on a reasonable belief the occupants have recently been fishing or hunting. Based on an Attorney General Opinion from 1944 interpreting the predecessor to Section 1006 as authorizing such stops, and on the intent of the Legislature in later enacting Section 1006 without substantial change from its predecessor, Sections 1006 and 2012 provide wardens with the authority to stop individuals whom they reasonably believe have recently engaged in fishing or hunting. 4 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. at 407–409; *Orange County Employees Assn., Inc.*, 14 Cal. App. 4th at 582–83.

Section 1006 states,

The department may inspect the following: (a) All boats, markets, stores and other buildings, except dwellings, and all receptacles except the clothing actually worn by a person at the time of inspection, where birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibian may be stored, placed or held for sale and storage

Section 2012 provides:

All licenses, tags, and the birds, mammals, fish, reptiles or amphibians taken or otherwise dealt with under this code, and any device or apparatus designed to be, and capable of being, used to take birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibians shall be exhibited upon demand to any person authorized by the department to enforce this code or any law relating to the protection and conservation of birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibians.

In 1944, the Attorney General was asked to render an opinion on "how far law enforcement officers of the Division of Fish and Game may proceed under the provisions of Sections 23⁵ and 24⁶ in searching automobiles and seizing illegal game which may be found in such vehicles." 4 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. at 405. Recognizing that a vehicle was not listed in the statute, the Attorney General rejected the idea that the statute authorized wardens to make random stops of any vehicle driving on the road to determine whether the occupants have been engaged in fishing or hunting. (4 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 405, 407–09 (1944).) After rejecting the unfettered right to stop any vehicle, the Attorney General interpreted the statute as authorizing wardens, who have a reasonable belief that the occupants of a vehicle have recently engaged in hunting, to stop the vehicle

⁵ In this argument, Appellant refers to Fish and Game Code section 1006 interchangeably with Section 23, its predecessor. The two sections are essentially the same: Section 23 states, "The commission shall inspect regularly (1) all boats, markets, stores and other buildings, except dwellings, and all receptacles except the clothing actually worn by a person at the time of inspection, where birds, mammals, fish, mollusks, or crustaceans may be stored, placed or held for sale or storage, " 4 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. at 406–07.

⁶Section 24 authorized wardens to seize illegally taken fish and game and is not at issue in this appeal.

and inquire as to the occupants' take. In providing an example of what a reasonable belief of recent hunting was, the Attorney General stated,

A warden's observation of a vehicle emerging from a duck club during the open season would give the warden the right to "stop the car and inquire if any game had been taken. If possession of game was denied, the warden would not have the right to search the car in the absence of probable cause for believing that such a denial was untrue. If possession was admitted he would have the right to demand an exhibition of the game under Section 403 of the Fish and Game Code. A refusal to exhibit the game would give rise to probable cause for searching the car without a warrant.

Id. at 409.

Furthermore, in 1959, the Legislature enacted Section 1006 without substantial change from its predecessor. Stats. 1957, ch. 456, pp. 1308, 1330. And in 1972, the Legislature amended the statute, but only added the word "reptiles" to the list of animals. Stats. 1972, ch. 974, Section 4, p. 1766. Based on these actions, the Legislature, by implication, adopted the Attorney General's construal of Section 23, in effect, that the statute authorizes vehicle stops, such as the one in the present case, where there is a reasonable belief in recent hunting or fishing. It is well settled that when an Attorney General Opinion construes a statute and the Legislature thereafter enacts it without substantial change, "it must be presumed that the Legislature is aware of the [Attorney General Opinion] and approves of it." *Orange County Employee's Assn., Inc.*, 14 Cal. App. 4th 582–83; *Henderson v. Board of Education*, 78 Cal. App. 3d 875, 883 (1978).

Here, in conducting the vehicle stop of Respondent, Warden Fleet did exactly what the Attorney General's Opinion authorized. Warden Fleet

⁷ In the DFGs 2010-2011 California Ocean Sport Fishing Regulations booklet at page 26, "take" is defined as, "[h]unt, pursue catch, capture or kill fish, amphibians, reptiles, mollusks, crustaceans or invertebrates, or attempting to do so."

not only saw a vehicle leaving a fishing area, he also witnessed Respondent hand-line fishing prior to leaving in his vehicle. Thus, under the Attorney General's Opinion and the presumptive intent of the Legislature, Warden Fleet had the clear authority to stop Respondent's car to inquire as to his catch.⁸

Based on the Attorney General's Opinion and on the presumptive intent of the Legislature, Warden Fleet's vehicle stop of Respondent was properly authorized by Sections 1006 and 2012.9

II

FISH AND GAME COMPLIANCE CHECKS ARE CONSTITUTIONAL, WITHOUT SUSPICION OF ILLEGAL ACTIVITY, PURSUANT TO THE IMPLIED CONSENT DOCTRINE AND UNDER THE REASONABLENESS BALANCING TEST FROM BROWN V. TEXAS

Fish and game compliance checks of hunters and fisherman encountered in the field are constitutional, without suspicion of illegal activity, under the implied consent doctrine and pursuant to the reasonableness balancing test from *Brown*, 443 U.S. at 47.

⁸ Neither the petition for review nor the answer to the petition raised the issue of the ensuing search of Respondent's car. Therefore, under California Rules of Court, Rule 8.516, the legality of the search does not appear to be an issue before this Court.

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