SUPREME COURT COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE FOR THE	E STATE)	S180289
OF CALIFORNIA,)	
•)	Court of Appeal No.
Peti	tioner/Appellant,)	D055068
v.)	(0, 0,)), (1,)
)	(Super. Ct. No: CA 211304)
BOUHN MAIKHIO,)	211304)
D) 	
Kes	pondent/Defendant.)	
		SUPREME COURT
		FILED
	1 (Lu hun hu)	
	CVC ,	
ANSW	ER BRIEF ON THE	MERITS OCT 1 9 2010 8.25 (5)
		Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
		Clerk
		Deputy

RANDY MIZE, Chief Deputy
Office of the Primary Public Defender
MATTHEW BRANER
St. Bar No.122481
GARY NICHOLS
JESSICA MARSHALL
Deputy Public Defenders
450 "B" Street, Suite 900
San Diego, California 92101
(619) 338-4705

Attorneys for Respondent BOUHN MAKHIO

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

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

ARGUMENT

I.

FISH AND GAME CODE SECTIONS 1006 AND 2012 DO NOT AUTHORIZE VEHICLE STOPS WITHOUT REASONABLE SUSPICION OF CRIMINAL CONDUCT AND EVEN IF THESE SECTIONS DID AUTHORIZE SUCH STOPS, IT WOULD VIOLATE THE FOURTH AMENDMENT.

Although vigorously arguing in the lower court that "receptacle" in section 1006 included vehicles (Trans. 9, 41, AOB in the Court of Appeal, 8-11, Reply Brief, 2-3), the prosecution has now seemingly focused entirely on the dissent's conclusion the Legislature adopted not only the statutory construction, but also the illustration in the 1944 advisory opinion. (AOB, 9-12.) As discussed in Section I.D, below, words in a statute and what they mean can be imputed to motorists like Mr. Maikhio but no authority allows imputing an outdated constitutional illustration. And although neither the dissent nor the prosecution now seemingly contend that "receptacle" in section 1006 applies to vehicles, Officer Fleet believes it does (T, 9) and it is ostensibly what he was taught at the academy (T, 18, 34). It is important to confirm that the actual language of section 1006 offers no purchase for police to stop motorists.

"Well-established rules of statutory construction require [courts] to ascertain the intent of the enacting legislative body so that [they] may adopt

the construction that best effectuates the purpose of the law." (Hassan v. Mercy American River Hospital (2003) 31 Cal.4th 709, 715.) Statutory interpretation involves a three-step analysis. First, a court should examine the actual language of the statute. "In examining the language, the courts should give to the words of the statute their ordinary, everyday meaning unless, of course, the statute itself specifically defines those words to give them a special meaning." (Halbert's Lumber, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc. (1992) 6 Cal. App. 4th 1233, 1238-1239 [Halbert's Lumber], internal citations omitted.) "If the meaning is without ambiguity, doubt, or uncertainty, then the language controls." (Id. p. 1239.) "[I]f the meaning of the words is not clear, courts must take the second step and refer to the legislative history. [Citations.]" (Id. at p. 1239.) "The final step--and one which we believe should only be taken when the first two steps have failed to reveal clear meaning--is to apply reason, practicality, and common sense to the language at hand. If possible, the words should be interpreted to make them workable and reasonable." (*Id.* at pp. 1239-1240.)

"If a statute is susceptible of two constructions, one of which will render it constitutional and the other unconstitutional in whole or in part, or raise serious and doubtful constitutional questions, the court will adopt the construction which, without doing violence to the reasonable meaning of the language used, will render it valid in its entirety, or free from doubt as to its constitutionality, even though the other construction is equally reasonable. [Citations.] The basis of this rule is the presumption that the Legislature intended, not to violate the Constitution, but to enact a valid statute within the scope of its constitutional powers. [Citations.]" (*People v. Superior Court (Romero)* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 497, 509.)

A. The Plain Language of the Statutes

Since 1915 section 1006, subdivision (a) and its predecessors have provided for the inspection of "[a]ll boats, markets, stores and other buildings, except dwellings, and all receptacles, except the clothing actually worn by a person at the time of inspection, where birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibia may be stored, placed, or held for sale or storage."

(See 4 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen., *supra*, 405, 406-407.)

Section 2012 provides: "All licenses, tags, and the birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibians taken or otherwise dealt with under this code, and any device or apparatus designed to be, and capable of being, used to take birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibians shall be exhibited upon demand to any person authorized by the department to enforce this code or any law relating to the protection and conservation of birds, mammals, fish, reptiles, or amphibians."

Nowhere does either statute mention the inspection of vehicles.

Section 1006 does authorize the inspection of boats, but not cars or trucks or motorcycles or wagons, or carts, or any other form of conveyance or kind of vehicle. If the Legislature had intended to permit the inspection of vehicles it would have said "vehicles." It certainly would not have expressed its intention to authorize the inspection of vehicles by referring to them as "receptacles." Nor would any reasonable person reading the statute think of vehicles when reading the word "receptacles." In fact, no California statute can be found which has used the word "receptacles" when the Legislature meant "vehicles."

Because when given its "ordinary, everyday meaning," the word "receptacles" does not mean vehicle, the prosecution's former theory that a car was a species of vehicle fails.

B. The Historical Interpretation of the Statute and its Predecessors.

Section 1006 was enacted in 1957. It has been amended once since then, in 1972, when the word "reptiles" was added to the statute. Section 1006 superseded Fish & Game Code section 23 which contained the identical language of the current statute, permitting inspection of "all boats, markets, stores and other buildings, except dwellings, and all receptacles except the clothing actually worn by a person at the time of inspection,"

(See 4 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen., *supra*, 406-407.) The quoted sentence was added to the predecessor of section 23 in 1915. (*Ibid*.)

In 1944, the Attorney General was asked by the Department (then Division) of Fish and Game to render an opinion on "how far law enforcement officers of the Division of Fish and Game may proceed under the provisions of sections 23 and 24 of the Fish and Game Code in searching automobiles and seizing illegal game which may be found in such vehicles. (See 4 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen., supra, at p. 405.) In concluding that either a warrant or something more than mere suspicion, was required (*Id.* at p. 410), the Attorney directly addressed and rejected the suggestion that an automobile could be searched under the statutory authorization to inspect "receptacles." "As used in that section [former § 23] the word 'receptacles' cannot be extended to connote motor vehicles. The sentence in which the word is contained was added to section 642 of the Political Code by Stats. 1915, page 727, and a reading of the whole indicates that the legislature did not intend to include automobiles by implication in the enumeration of places and things that shall be inspected." (*Id.* at p. 407.)

The Attorney General's opinion that "receptacles" did not include automobiles has not been challenged since it was rendered until the prosecution made this argument in the lower courts. But, more significantly,

in 1957, when the Legislature repealed and reenacted the statute in slightly modified form, it did not add automobiles to the list of things and places subject to inspection. The Legislature amended the statute again in 1972, well after the Supreme Court applied the Fourth Amendment to the States in *Mapp v. Ohio* (1961) 367 U.S. 643 [81 S.Ct 733, 6 L.Ed.2d 1081], and four years after the Court established the reasonable suspicion standard for investigative detentions in *Terry v. Ohio* (1968) 392 U.S. 1, [88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L.Ed.2d 889], but this 1972 amendment merely added reptiles to the kinds of animals subject to the law, it again did not add automobiles to the list of things and places to be inspected.

The Legislature is deemed to be aware of prior official interpretations of statutes. When the Legislature then reenacts or amends a statute without changing the language previously construed, it may be deemed to have adopted the construction. For almost three-quarters of a century the Fish and Game Code has remained unchanged in the specification of things and places subject to inspections, although in that time it has been repealed and reenacted in identical language, and amended as to the kinds of animals which may be seized, but not as to the things and places which may be inspected. For that entire time, the official, published, opinion of the California Attorney General has been that automobiles are not "receptacles"

subject to inspection within the meaning of the statute.

Although the Attorney General's interpretation of *statutory law* is not controlling, courts accord it great respect. (See State Bd. of Educ. v. Honig (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 720, 735; Sonoma County Bd. of Education v. Public Employment Relations Bd. (1980) 102 Cal. App. 3d 689, 699.) "Where a statute has been construed by judicial decision, and that construction is not altered by subsequent legislation, it must be presumed that the Legislature is aware of the judicial construction and approves of it." [Citations.] "There is a strong presumption that when the Legislature reenacts a statute which has been judicially construed it adopts the construction placed on the statute by the courts." [Citation.]' (Wilkoff v. Superior Court (1985) 38 Cal.3d 345, 353 [211 Cal.Rptr. 742, 696 P.2d 134].) [¶] "So it is here. Similar presumptions apply in the case of Attorney General opinions (Henderson v. Board of Education (1978) 78 Cal. App. 3d 875, 883) We must assume the Legislature knew what it was doing when it employed the language of the statute[] at issue in this case." (Orange County Employees Ass'n v. County of Orange (1993) 14 Cal.App.4th 575, 582-583.)

Because the Legislature is presumed to be aware that the Attorney

General has construed the language of section 1006 to not permit inspection

of automobiles, and the Legislature has had two opportunities to amend the

statute and reject the Attorney General's interpretation but did not, it is now presumed that the Legislature has adopted and endorsed the interpretation of the Attorney General. Therefore, it is the intent of the Legislature that section 1006 does not authorize the inspection of vehicles.

C. Application of Reason, Practicality, and Common Sense

Reason, practicality, and common sense dictate that if a statute means to refer to vehicles, is says "vehicles," not "receptacles." Additionally, the language of the statute, consistent with its administrative character and the protections of the Constitution, is careful to limit the scope of the inspection authorization to avoid invading areas of personal privacy. Boats, markets, stores and other buildings are subject to inspection, but not dwellings. All receptacles are subject to inspection, but not the clothing worn by an individual. The obvious concern shown by the Legislature for the privacy of personal space would be seriously diminished by construing "receptacles" to extend to personal automobiles, but would be furthered by recognizing that the Legislature did not intend for "receptacles" to mean vehicles.

This is also the conclusion reached in the only published appellate opinion to consider the statute, *People v. Maxwell* (1969) 275 Cal.App.2d Supp. 1026. There, the court noted "that the Legislature itself is not insensitive to the invasion of privacy which a search may involve since it

prohibits search of 'the clothing actually worn by a person at the time of inspection' and of 'dwellings.'"(Id., at p. 1029.) This conclusion also coincides nicely with the second step of statutory interpretation, the legislative history. As the Attorney General pointed out in 1944, the sentence in question was first codified in 1915 when automobiles were not as extensively used and the probability of transporting contraband game in them was lower. (See 4 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen., supra, 407.) The relative rarity of automobiles may help explain why the Legislature did not authorize their inspection initially. But as the automobile became more and more commonplace, the best explanation for their continued exclusion from the inspection statute is that the Legislature did not intend to authorize the inspection of vehicles. And, as discussed in section B., ante, that conclusion has been inescapable for the last half century when the Legislature reenacted and amended the statute, informed by the Attorney General's opinion, and continued to exclude vehicles from the statute.

D. The Legislature Cannot Adopt an Outdated Constitutional Illustration.

The prosecution has now recast their statutory argument to make it indistinguishable from the lower court dissent. (AOB, 9-12.) Justice Benke relied on the hypothetical in the Attorney General's advisory opinion that would allow a fish and game warden to stop and search a vehicle "emerging"

from a the duck club, the warden reasonably believed the driver lied about having game in the car.

The majority rejected this portion of the Attorney General's advisory opinion as being inconsistent with current bedrock Fourth Amendment principles: "To the extent the 1944 opinion of the California Attorney General concluded a DFG warden may stop a vehicle to inquire if any game had been taken without any reasonable suspicion under the Fourth Amendment that the vehicle contained illegal game, we note it preceded the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Terry v. Ohio* [*supra*,] 392 U.S. 1, and its progeny regarding investigatory stops and therefore does not reflect consideration of current Fourth Amendment principles. (4 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 405, 407- 410, *supra*.)." A section 1006 vehicle stop advisory opinion from the Attorney General informed by post *Terry* fourth amendment jurisprudence would not mirror its 1944 counterpart.

But it is difficult to accept the dissent's finding that the Legislature incorporated not only the Attorney General's statutory construction that "receptacles cannot be extended to connote motor vehicles," but also gave the force of law to one of the "illustrations" addressing the constitutional question "of reasonableness or the existence of probable cause to justify a search." (4 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 405, 407.) First, such an interpretation would

invite rather than defeat a constitutional attack, and violate the rule of construction this Court reiterated in *Romero*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 509.

Second, the cases that apply to attorney general advisory opinions the rule of construction that the legislature by leaving a statute unchanged implicitly adopts that construction all concern particular statutory interpretations. (e.g. Wilkoff v. Superior Court, supra, 38 Cal.3d 345, 353 [DUI with injury charge applies to one incident regardless of number of injuries]; Henderson v. Board of Education, supra, 78 Cal.App.3d 875, 883 [interpreting application of "less than quorum exception" to Brown Act]; Orange County Employees Ass'n v. County of Orange, supra, 14 Cal. App.4th 575, 582-583 [interpretation of phrase "may carry firearms only if authorized and under terms and conditions specified by their employing agency."].) This has to be so since the Legislature controls the words used in a statute and thus how these words should be interpreted, but the Legislature does not control future court decisions assessing whether or not this interpretation satisfies constitutional standards. Thus the Legislature cannot by inaction adopt that portion of an advisory opinion illustrating what might and might not be constitutional when and if a reviewing court takes up that issue.

Thus, section 1006 does not include vehicles within those areas the warden may inspect.

VEHICLE STOPS WITHOUT A WARRANT OR REASONABLE SUSPICION OF CRIMINAL ACTIVITY VIOLATE THE FOURTH AMENDMENT

The prosecution argues that because Mr. Maikhio voluntarily engaged in the heavily regulated activity of fishing, he impliedly consented to the stop and search of his vehicle. (AOB, 13-18; 29-31.) The prosecution relies on an amalgam of administrative cases concerning closely regulated businesses, and a few cases that analogize to this concept in the context of game preserves. These cases are inapposite. Game preserves are heavily regulated but they are not businesses. A hallmark of administrative inspections is the explicit notice they provide to those affected. Such notice is lacking here. And contrary to the prosecution's assertions, even those few cases that impliedly authorize on site game preserve inspections, recognize the limitations set out in decisions from the United States Supreme Court and do not allow vehicle stops nor authorize such inspections off site.

A. The Closely Regulated Business Exception Requires Clear Guidelines and Express Notice and is Otherwise Inapplicable to Wildlife Areas.

"Implied consent" is part of a lawful administrative scheme that applies almost exclusively to closely regulated businesses. Under this scheme, the state may search areas that would otherwise be protected under

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